IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NUMBER 2009 - KA - 00027 - COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NUMBER CR - 2007 - 425

PREPARED BY:
BRANDON I. DORSEY, MSB
BRANDON I. DORSEY, PLLC
POST OFFICE BOX 13427
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39236 - 3427
TELEPHONE: (601) 605 - 9006
FACSIMILE: (601) 605 - 9353

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN GUILTY AS TO COUNT NUMBER 2 OF THE INDICTMENT IS AGAINST AND/OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
- II. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN
 GUILITY AS TO COUNT NUMBER 3 OF THE INDICTMENT IS
 AGAINST AND / OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING
 WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
- III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.
- IV. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The instant case is submitted to this Honorable Court to determine: (1) whether the verdict finding Diann Wright Gooden guilty of Count Number 2 of the indictment was against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence; (2) whether the verdict finding Diann Wright Gooden guilty of Count 3 of the indictment was against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence; (3) whether the lower court erred in overruling Diann Wright Gooden's Motion For Directed verdict and (4) whether the lower court erred in denying Diann Wright Gooden's Motion To Suppress.

Appellant, Diann Wright Gooden, by and through her attorney, argue, contend and submits to this Honorable Court the lower court has committed reversible error and as a result, the verdicts should be overturned and/or reversed and remanded.

B. THE COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN THE LOWER COURT

That Appellant, namely, Diann Wright Gooden, was indicted by the grand jurors of Washington County, Mississippi on or about December 14, 2007 on four (4) counts of fraud in accordance with Section 97 - 7 - 10 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. (TR 1, 2 RE 5, 6). Subsequent thereto, on or about February 1, 2008, Appellant, namely Diann Wright Gooden was arraigned and the matter was set for trial. (TR 7, RE 7).

That on or about August 18, 2008, Appellant, Diann Wright Gooden moved the lower court to suppress any and all statements, whether oral and / or written made by her during the investigation conducted by the Mississippi Attorney General's Office, the Washington County Sheriff's Office and / or the Greenville Police Department.

(TR 44 - 47, RE 8 - 11). That on or about September 24, 2008, the lower court entered its Order denying Diann Wright Gooden's Motion To Suppress. (TR 87 - 90, RE 12 - 15)

That the trial in these premises commenced on or about September 30, 2008 and concluded October 1, 2008, where Appellant was found not guilty as to Count Number 1 (TR Exhibit 70, RE 16), but guilty as to Count Number 2 (TR 133, RE 17) and Count

Number 3 (TR 130, RE 18), respectively. Prior to the start of any and all testimony, the State moved to dismiss Count Number 4 of the indictment.

C. THE DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

That the trial in these premises commenced on or about September 30, 2008 and concluded on or about October 1, 2008, where Appellant was found not guilty as to Count Number 1, but guilty as to Count Number 2 and Count Number 3 respectively. As a direct and proximate result thereof of the guilty verdicts, Appellant, by and through her attorney of record, moved the lower court for a motion for judgment notwithstanding jury verdict or in the alternative a new trial and for reasonable bail pending appeal. (TR 159 - 161, RE 19 - 21) The lower court denied the Motion in part as it relates to the request for judgment notwithstanding the jury verdict and new trial, but granted the Motion in part as it related to granting bail pending an appeal. (TR 166, 167, RE 22, 23) As a result of the jury verdict, Diann Wright Gooden was sentenced to a term of five (5) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department Of Corrections and ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$5,000.00 as to Count Number 2 and a term of five (5) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department Of Corrections and ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$5,000.00 as to Count Number 3, with the understanding that such sentences would run consecutive with one another. (TR 134, 135, RE 24, 25).

That Diann Wright Gooden filed her Notice Of Appeal (TR 171, 172, RE 26, 27) and subsequently thereto, moved the lower court to allow her to appeal as a "pauper." (TR 174, 175, RE 28, 29). In response, the lower court found the Motion well taken. (TR 191, 192, RE 30, 31). Subsequent thereto, Diann Wright Gooden filed her Designation Of The Record (TR 179 - 181, RE 32 - 34) and appropriate Certificate Of Compliance. (TR 182, 183, RE 35, 36).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In May of 2007, the Washington County Board Of Supervisors contacted the Mississippi Attorney General's Office with respects to investigating deputy clerks inside of the Washington County Tax Collector's Office that were allegedly changing people's taxing districts from the city to the county in order to obtain cheaper tags.

(TR 89, RE 37). In response, Carl Pree headed the investigation. During the course of the investigation, Mr. Pree learned that there were ten (10) deputy clerks employed at that time. (TR 91, RE 38). In addition to clerks, Mr. Pree talked with Marcus Cannon, Bernard Marsalis and Cordell Gray, who alleged that Diann Wright Gooden changed their taxing districts so as to allow each of them to receive cheaper tags.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Diann Wright Gooden contends that the lower court committed reversible error in (1) that the verdict finding Diann Wright Gooden guilty of Count Number 2 of the indictment was against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence; (2) that the verdict finding Diann Wright Gooden guilty of Count 3 of the indictment was against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence; (3) that the lower court overruled Diann Wright Gooden's Motion For Directed verdict and (4) that the lower court erred in denying Diann Wright Gooden's Motion To Suppress.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN GUILTY AS TO COUNT NUMBER 2 OF THE INDICTMENT IS AGAINST AND/OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

A new trial should be granted if the jury's verdict "so contradicts the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Hawthorne v. State, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004) (Citing Frost v. State 453 So.2d 695 (Miss. 1984)). If the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, a new trial should be ordered. Holloway v. State, 312 So.2d 700, 701 (Miss. 1975).

In Hawthorne, the Court opined that the evidence introduced by the state was "too weak" to prove sanity. The Court went further, and opined that the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant Hawthorne was sane. Consider in the instant case, Bernard Marsalis testified in pertinent part that he did not remember having a conversation with Diann Wright Gooden.¹ (TR 168, RE 39). Moreover, Mr. Marsalis could not identify Diann Wright Gooden as the clerk that sold him his tag.² (TR 169, RE 40). In addition, Mr. Marsalis testified that he executed the affidavit in another portion of the courthouse, not in Diann Wright Gooden's presence, knowing same to be false.³

Answer: Yes, sir.

Question: Now, when you went to get your tag, to renew your truck tag, the clerk that waited on you, do you recall telling her that your truck had not been driven for a year?

Answer: I will be honest with you. I really don't remember what the conversation was.

Question: Did you tell her your truck had been in a repair shop for a year?

Answer: Like I said, I don't recall.

²Question: You say you don't recall obtaining it?

Answer: That's correct.

Question: You don't know who gave it to you?

Answer: Well, it had to be the clerk that sold me my tag.

Question: Do you know which clerk gave it to you?

Answer: The lady that, as I recall, she kind of had long hair.

³Question: Then there are two signatures. I believe that's Ms. Hansell's name as Chancery Clerk and then it says "by" and that would have been obe of her deputy clerks, is that correct?

Answer: Right.

Question: So, Ms. Hansell's office, her office is in another part of the building from the courthouse, is that correct? Let me ask you this: Is Ms. Hansell's office in the same office where you buy your tag?

Answer: I believe she is across the hall.

Question: Across the hall. So, you would have had to take this form across the hall to get it

¹Question: Okay, now this affidavit says that you certify that you haven't driven this vehicle for a year, to repair brakes. Is that correct?

In light of the afore referenced testimony, Diann Wright Gooden asserts that to allow the jury verdict as to Count Number 2 to stand, when the State, through the testimony of Bernard Marsalis, could not even identify Mrs. Gooden as the person that even sold him (i.e. Mr. Marsalis) the tag in question in these premises. Therefore, Mrs. Gooden further asserts that the State has failed to introduce any evidence to meet its burden of proof for the charge of fraud with respects to Count Number 2.

II. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDIING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN
GUILTY AS TO COUNT NUMBER 3 OF THE INDICTMENT IS
AGAINST AND / OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING
WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

When inquiring whether sufficient evidence exists to support a conviction, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the

notarized, is that correct?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Okay. Now, also this document says, it is kind of small, but I am going to read it for you. It says, "I hereby certify that the vehicle described below was not operated upon the streets or highways of this state from the date of acquisition or from the expiration of said vehicle's last privilege license to the current date." Did I read that correct?

Answer: Yes, sir.

Question: So, you, when you signed the affidavit, you understood that what you were signing, you understood that you weren't telling the truth as (sic) relates to this document, is that correct?

Answer: Can you repeat that?

Question: I said, let me ask you this: You knew, when you were signing this document, that this was not true. You knew that, right?

Answer: Right.

Question: Okay. But you signed it anyway, right?

Answer: Right.

Question: Had it notarized, right?

Answer: Yes, sir.

crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Goodin v. State, 2006 - KA - 00756 - COA (Miss. 2007) (Citing Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005)). This Court must reverse and render if the facts and inferences "point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty. Id. (Citing Edwards v. State, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985)). Emphasis added.

In the instant case, Marcus Cannon testified that he never saw Mrs. Gooden actually change his taxing district.⁴ (TR 140, 141, RE 41, 42). In addition, Mr. Cannon testified that he did not see Mrs. Gooden even "prepare" the document (s) at issue in these premises.⁵ (TR 145, RE 43).

In addition, there was no testimony proffered by any witness tendered by the State regarding the monies lost by either the State Of Mississippi or Washington County. In Richmond v. State, 751 So.2d 1038, 1046 (Miss. 1999), the Mississippi

Answer: No, I called her.

⁵Question: But, did you see her prepare it?

Answer: No.....

Question: Okay. So, you don't know if another clerk prepared the document, do you?

Answer: No.

Question: You don't know if another clerk changed the taxing district, do you?

Answer: No.

Question: Just because Ms. Gooden handed it to you, that doesn't mean she prepared it, is that

right?

Answer: No.

⁴Question: As it relates to your wife's vehicle, did you see Mrs. Gooden change any taxing district?

Supreme Court held that the State was required to prove an unnecessary element alleged in the indictment. In the instant case, each indictment concludes with the language " causing the State Of Mississippi to loose revenue to which it was entitled, in violation of Section 97 - 7 - 10 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended."

In pertinent part, Carl Pree testified as follows:

Question: All right. Can you tell us how

much of the money goes to the City, what percentage?

Answer: I don't have those calculations in front of me, sir.

Question: Okay. What percentage goes to the county?

Answer: I don't have any of those calculations.

Question: What percentage goes to the State?

Answer: I don't have any of those calculations.

(TR 114, RE 44). Therefore, because Carl Pree, nor any other witness proffered by the State could articulate the monies actually lost by the State, county or city, the State failed meet its burden, thus demonstrating that the verdict, as it relates to Count Number 3 is against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

The standard of review for the denial of a motion for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict is the same. Humphrey v. State, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004) (Citing Shelton v. State, 853 So.2d 1171, 1186 (Miss. 2003.)). A directed verdict challenges the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. Id. This Court demands that the lower court reverse and render if the facts, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, point in favor of the defendant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a guilty verdict. Id. (Citing Seeling v. State, 844 So.2d 439 (Miss. 2003).

In the instant case, even when looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the evidence was not sufficient for fraud. No witness proffered by the State Of Mississippi testified that they witnesses Diann Wright Gooden. In fact, one (1) witness testified that he never even met Diann Wright Gooden, while another witness testified that he did not know he actually gave him his tag, in fact, he believed that the lady that gave him the tag had long hair. Regardless, based on the testimony proffered, and with all inferences most favorable to the State, the lower court erred in denying Diann Wright Gooden's Motion for directed verdict.

IV. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS

In Miranda, the United States Supreme Court held that the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments' prohibitions against compelled self - incrimination require that, prior to custodial interrogation, the accused must be advised of his right to remain silent and his right to counsel. Chim v. State, 2008 - MS - R0118.007 (Miss. 2008) (Citing Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)). For a waiver of one's Miranda rights to be considered valid, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the waiver was made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently. Id. (Citing Coverson v. State, 617 So.2d 642 (Miss. 1993)). A waiver is considered voluntary if it is the result of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion or deception. Id. A waiver is knowing and intelligent if it is made with a full awareness both of the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.

In the instant case, Carl Pree never advised Diann Wright Gooden of the protections afforded pursuant to Miranda. Carl Pre testified that he interviewed over four thousand people prior to questioning Diann Wright Gooden, and he stated in pertinent part that at lease five (5) such persons implicated Diann Wright Gooden. Therefore, prior to questioning Diann Wright Gooden, Carl Pree knew and / or reasonably should have known that Mrs. Gooden was a suspect and that she would make self incriminating statements, thus, requiring that he advise her of her Miranda

warning (s), but he failed t do so. Instead, he deceived her into believing that if she cooperated, everything would be alright. Appellant contends that the lower court committed reversible error in denying her Motion To Suppress.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant asserts the lower court has erred and should therefore, be reversed and same shall be rendered and/or in the alternative remanded to the lower court.