**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**DIANN WRIGHT GOODEN**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**NO. 2009-KA-0027-COA**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: LISA L. BLOUNT  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

##

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Washington County and the judgment of conviction of Diann Wright Gooden. Gooden was indicted on four counts of fraud in violation of Section 97-7-10 of the Mississippi Code Annotated. (CP 1-2, 28-9). The State dismissed Count IV of the indictment prior to commencement of testimony at trial. After a two day trial, the jury acquitted Gooden on Count I of the indictment and convicted her of fraud in Counts II and III. (CP 70, 130, 133). The trial court sentenced Gooden to five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections on each count, with the sentences to run concurrent, and fined her \$5,000.00 on each count. (CP 134-35). After denial of post trial motions, Gooden appealed raising the following issues. (CP 166-67,171-72).

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence as to Count II of the indictment.
- II. Whether the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence as to Count III of the indictment.
- III. Whether the lower court erred in overruling Gooden's motion for a directed verdict.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying Gooden's motion to suppress.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In May 2007, the Mississippi Attorney General's Office commenced an investigation of the Washington County Tax Collector's Office after receiving a complaint that persons in the tax collector's office were changing people's taxing districts from the city to the county in order to reduce the costs of car tags. (Tr 89). Karl Pree (hereinafter "Pree") headed the investigation of the case. During the course of the investigation Pree talked with over four thousand people, including the deputy clerks in the office, Diann Wright Gooden, Cordell Gray, Marcus Cannon, and Bernard Marsalis.

While interviewing Gooden at the Washington County Tax Collector's Office, Gooden admitted to Pree that she was greedy and that she changed addresses on tag applications to give people cheaper tags and also admitted that she gave forms with false information stating a vehicle had not been driven for over a year. (Tr. 108-9; 123). Gooden did not recall how many times she changed the taxing districts to the county. (*Id.*) While she did not know how much money she made by changing the tag information she admitted to making around \$2,000. (*Id.*). According to Pree, Gooden admitted that she took a blank affidavit, filled in the VIN of Bernard Marsalis's truck and a false statement that the engine was being repaired so he would not have to not pay a late fee. (Tr. 93; 108;).

Marcus Cannon (hereinafter "Marcus") testified to being employed at the Washington County Tax Collector's Office from 1998 to 2001. (Tr. 125-6). Cannon admitted to improperly changing taxing districts on tag applications and renewals when employed as a deputy clerk and sometimes receiving money for the change. (Tr 136-7; 145-7). Cannon explained that the clerk waiting on a customer in the office enters the vehicle information and customer's address into the tax collector's system; therefore, the clerk has the ability to change the taxing district and reduce the cost of a tag.

Marcus was married to Yolanda Owens Cannon, owner of the Chevrolet Blazer identified in Exhibits S-4 and S-5. (Tr. 127-8; 133-5). After Ms. Cannon purchased the vehicle, the dealership issued an Application for Certificate of Title which reflected the Cannon's correct address inside the City of Leland. (Tr. 127-8). Marcus called Gooden at the Tax Collector's office to inquire about the price of the tag. Initially it was around \$300. (Tr. 127-31; 140). However, Marcus knew Gooden would reduce the cost of the tag for him by putting a false address on the registration papers thereby changing the taxing district. (Tr. 127-31; 141-2; 149; Ex. S-4; Ex. S-5). During the call, Marcus gave Gooden the information on the car, but not his address, and she advised him the tag was \$185. (Tr. 129). According to Marcus, he didn't have to give Gooden his address because he knew she would cut him a deal as she had done in the past. (Tr. 129; 143). When Marcus went to the Tax Collector's Office he did not actually see Gooden enter the tag information into the computer but when he asked her to for the tag, she delivered it to him at the reduced price. (Tr. 132-33; 149). Marcus identified the subject tax receipt and noted Diann Gooden's initials were on the receipt. (Tr. 133-5; Ex. S-5).

Marcus testified that after Cordell Gray discovered the tag for his Ford Expedition would cost him \$600, Gray contacted Marcus about getting him a reduced tag. (Tr. 130). Marcus in turn contacted Gooden who gave him the tag for \$250 to \$300. (Tr. 130-1; ). Marcus gave Gooden a gratuity of \$60 to \$70. (Tr. 131).

In his course of dealings with Gooden through the years, Gooden wanted gratuities for the reduced tags and would give Marcus kickbacks for bringing her customers. (Tr. 131).

Cordell Gray denied having approached Cannon about getting a cheaper tag for his 1994 Honda. (Tr. 160). Gray testified to paying \$40 on November 7, 2006, for the tag on his 1994 Honda. Gray also testified the amount of the tag as indicated on State Tax Commission application, Exhibit S- 6, was \$28.57 but he paid \$40 as indicated on the tag receipt, Exhibit S-7. (Tr. 157-163).

Bernard Marsalis owned a Ford 150 truck. (Tr. 165). In 2006, Marsalis planned on selling the truck so he didn't renew the tag. (Tr.165). However, after a year of not being able to sell it, Marsalis finally renewed the tag but did not pay a late fee. (Tr. 165; 168). When Marsalis went to the Tax Collector's Office, a clerk gave him a form affidavit she completed which stated that he had not driven the truck because it had been in Moores Auto Repair Shop, located at 1617 Martin Luther King Boulevard, Greenville for a year. (Tr. 119; 165). Marsalis signed the affidavit in front of a deputy clerk in the Chancery Clerk's office. (*Id.*).

At trial, Marsalis testified that he never took his truck to an auto body repair shop as indicated in the affidavit. (Tr. 119; 167). Marsalis identified the document marked Exhibit S-8 as being the affidavit he signed when he renewed his tag. (Tr. 166-7). When he testified, Marsalis could not remember who in the Tax Collector's Office gave him the form affidavit. (Tr. 167). Marsalis did not remember telling the clerk who waited on him that he had not driven his truck in a year, but knows he would not have told anyone that when he had in fact driven it. (Tr. 168). Marsalis testified he did not take a receipt from the repair shop to the Tax Collector's office as proof the truck was being repaired and not driven and did not pay any late penalty when he finally renewed the truck tag(Tr. 167; 175). On cross examination, Marsalis testified he knew when he signed the affidavit, Exhibit S-8, that it was not true. (Tr. 171). Marsalis previously received waivers of the late fee. (*Id.*).

On cross examination Marsalis could not initially remember what clerk gave him the affidavit, but on redirect he identified Gooden. (Tr. 172-3). Marsalis identified the registration receipt he received when he renewed the subject tag and testified the clerk who gave him the form affidavit and the registration receipt were one in the same clerk. (Tr. 174-5; Ex. S-9). Marsalis also testified that the receipt contained the clerk's initials "DG." (Tr. 176).



## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, Gooden's convictions on Counts II and Count III are not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. There is sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict. A reasonable juror could find Gooden guilty of every element of both counts of fraud. Gooden's weight and sufficiency arguments must fail.

The state presented credible evidence through the documents from the tax collector's office, the testimony of the investigators and the testimony of Marcus Cannon and Bernard Marsalis that Gooden falsified documents to lower the cost of license plates, thereby causing the State to loose money.

The trial court properly denied Gooden's motion to suppress the statements she made during her interview with Karl Pree. Gooden was not under arrest or in a custodial situation when interviewed so Pree was not required to advise Gooden of her Miranda rights.

**PROPOSITION I: There is ample evidence of guilt to support the jury's verdicts as to Count II and III.**

Gooden argues that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence as to Counts II and III. "When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844(¶ 18) (Miss.2005). In conducting this analysis, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* This Court "sits as a hypothetical thirteenth juror," and "[i]f, in this position, the Court disagrees with the verdict of the jury, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial." *Id.*

Gooden admitted to Pree that she changed addresses on car tag receipts, which changed the taxing district, thereby reducing the costs of the tags. (Tr 93). Gooden also admitted to Pree that she would fill in blank forms with false information to save the person from having to pay a late penalty fee. (Tr. 108). Gooden admitted to personally receiving money from people for changing their address or filling in affidavits with false information. (Tr. 93) Gooden received around \$2,000 over a period of time for changing addresses and providing false affidavits. (*Id.*).

**Count II:** Gooden claims that the State failed to introduce evidence to meet its burden of proof for the charge of fraud in Count II. Gooden contends that because Bernard Marsalis failed to identify her as the person who sold him the tag in question and because Marsalis signed the affidavit in another part of the courthouse the State did not meet its burden of proof.

However, the evidence at trial included Investigator Karl Pree's testimony that Gooden admitted she had given Bernard Marsalis a false form which stated his truck had not been driven for over a year. (T.93;108; 123). Pree also testified to his investigation of Moore's Auto Repair, the

business where Marsalis's vehicle was supposedly in the shop for the year in question; that the name and address of the business as indicated on the form did not exist; that the owner of Moore's Auto, a shop at another address, denied that Marsalis's vehicle had been at his shop; and that Pree himself inspected the meticulously kept shop records and found no record of Marsalis's vehicle having been at the shop. (T. 109; 119-120; 123).

Marsalis testified the information in the subject affidavit was false. While Marsalis failed to identify Gooden on cross examination as being the clerk who gave him the affidavit, on redirect he admitted the clerk who gave him the form affidavit and the clerk who gave him the receipt for purchase of the tag were one in the same, and that person signed the receipt "DG." (Tr. 172-6).

The jury could infer from, Exhibit S-9, the registration receipt, that the clerk who initialed the receipt is the clerk who completed the transaction and entered the information into the Tax Collector's system. The jury could also infer that the initials "DG" as noted on the receipt stand for Diann Gooden.

**Count III:** Next Gooden contends the State failed in its burden of proof in Count III because Marcus never saw Gooden actually change his taxing district nor see her prepare the tax and registration receipt in issue, being Exhibit S-5. Gooden also argues the State failed to offer any proof of the monies lost as a result of the fraud.

Again, the State submits Karl Pree's testimony concerning Gooden's admissions and Marcus Cannon's testimony along with Exhibits S-8 and S-9 provide overwhelming evidence of Gooden's guilt.

Pree testified with being familiar with the Mississippi tax regulations, the Washington County taxing districts and the workings of the Washington County Tax Collector's Office. (Tr. 89-90). The prosecution established through Pree's testimony that a person living inside a city pays

higher taxes than a person living in the county and a person pays an additional fee or penalty when purchasing a tag late, unless he can establish the vehicle was not driven because it was being repaired. (Tr. 89-90). Pree testified the State of Mississippi receives money from all tag sales in a county and therefore loses money if it is not collected correctly at the tax collector's office. The State is not required to prove the exact amount of money lost through Gooden's fraud. It is sufficient to prove that money was lost.

In viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, this Court cannot say that the guilty verdict in Counts II and III is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow the conviction to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial. This assignment of error is without merit.

**PROPOSITION II: The jury's verdict is supported by legally sufficient evidence.**

Motions for a directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence, and the standard of review for a directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict are identical.” *Nelson v. State*, 10 So.3d 898, 905 (Miss.2009). “[T]he critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows ‘beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction.’ ” *Jones v. State*, 904 So.2d 149, 153-54 (Miss.2005) (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968)). In *Moore v. State*, 996 So.2d 756, 760-61 (Miss.2008) the supreme court held “This Court “accept[s] as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and ... disregard[s] evidence favorable to” [the defendant].

Gooden claims the state's witnesses failed to identify her as the deputy clerk in the Washington County Tax Collector's office who perpetrated the fraud. Pree testified to the state and county procedures, laws and regulations for the issuing of license plates. Pree testified that the State lost money. Cannon and Marsalis both identified the documents in their respective tag transactions which contained a false statement. Both identified Gooden as the deputy clerk who completed the transaction for the purchase of their tag. Pree also testified to Gooden's admissions during their interview. Without reiterating all the evidence recited in Issues I and II above, and accepting as true all the evidence favorable to the verdict, the evidence was sufficient to sustain the guilty verdict.

**PROPOSITION III:            The trial court properly denied Gooden's Motion to Suppress her statements.**

This Court will reverse the denial of a motion to suppress only if the trial court's ruling is manifest error or contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Palm v. State*, 748 So.2d 135, 142 (Miss.1999) (citing *McGowan v. State*, 706 So.2d 231, 235 (Miss.1997)). This Court will not reverse the lower court's finding that the confession was voluntary and admissible so long as the court applied the correct principles of law and the finding is factually supported by the evidence. *Palm*, 748 So.2d at 142 (citing *Greenlee v. State*, 725 So.2d 816, 826 (Miss.1998)). Once a trial judge determines admissibility, the defendant/appellant faces a heavy burden in trying to reverse on appeal. *Greenlee*, 725 So.2d 816, 826 (Miss.1998).

Gooden contends the trial court erred by failing to suppress statements she made to investigators from the Attorney General's Office during an interview. Gooden asserts she was a suspect at the time Pree interviewed her so he knew or should have known she would make self incriminating statements, and, therefore required to advise Gooden of her Miranda warnings prior to questioning. (Appellant's brief page 12).

In *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966), the United States Supreme Court held that "the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444, 86 S.Ct. 1602; see also *Manix v. State*, 895 So.2d 167, 180(¶ 38) (Miss.2005) (citing *Tolbert v. State*, 511 So.2d 1368, 1374 (Miss.1987) (outlining application of *Miranda* in Mississippi)). Such custodial interrogation must "be preceded by advising the defendant that he has the right to remain silent and the right to the presence of an attorney." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 479, 86

S.Ct. 1602; *Balfour v. State*, 598 So.2d 731, 742 (Miss.1992).

“Custodial interrogation” has been defined as “questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.” *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 458, 86 S.Ct. 1602. “Any noncustodial statement given freely and voluntarily without coercion requires no Miranda warning for admissibility.” *Tolbert*, 511 So.2d at 1375 (citations omitted).

The prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination. By custodial interrogation, we mean questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436; *Wells v. State*, 913 So.2d 1053 (Miss.App. 2005). To be subject to “custodial interrogation” one must be both in custody and undergoing interrogation. One is in custody if a reasonable person would find their ability to freely leave restricted. *Id.*

A subject is in custody when their right to freely leave has been restricted. *Wilson v. State*, 936 So.2d 357 (Miss.,2006) The custody test for Miranda purposes has been described as follows: “Two discrete inquiries are essential to the determination: first, what were the circumstances surrounding the interrogation; and second, given those circumstances, would a reasonable person have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave. Once the scene is set and the players' lines and actions are reconstructed, the court must apply an objective test to resolve the ultimate inquiry: was there a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest. ” *Savell v. State*, 928 So.2d 961 (Miss.App.,2006.) quoting *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, 541 U.S. 652, 663, 124 S.Ct. 2140, 158 L.Ed.2d 938 (2004). The factors

to be considered include "the place and time of the interrogation, the people present, the amount of force or physical restraint used by the officers, the length and form of the questions, whether the defendant comes to the authorities voluntarily, and what the defendant is told about the situation."

*Id.* The key point in determining whether a person is in custody as defined by *Miranda* is whether the person is deprived of his freedom of action in any significant manner and if he is aware of such a deprivation. *Woulard v. State*, 832 So.2d 561 (Miss.App.,2002).

The record reflects that a reasonable person would not have felt he was in custody during the interview between Pree and Gooden. The subject interview lasted about an hour and a half and took place in the Tax Collector's Office during office hours with people around. Gooden was unrestrained and advised she was free to leave. The investigators did not threaten Gooden, yell at her or apply any coercion or force. (Tr.116-22). Clearly the interview was given in a non-custodial environment so Gooden's rights as set forth in *Miranda* were not violated. This issue also lacks merit.